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Creek was disassembled and carried to Lee Vining Creek. where it was io'b~ '.
reassembled for use in penstock construction at Lee Vining No. 1 powerhouse (Waugh
1920:20). In 1920. work began on' a road from the Southern Pacific Railroad station
at Benton to Lee Vining Creek. and another road from Sylvester's Meadow to the
Lee Vining No.1 powerhouse site. Roadwork for the latter involved reconstruction'
of an old road. construction of a new road, and completion of a connection bridge '
between the two sections (Waugh 1921:16). '. . ' " ",;',f':;.H,

A construction camp and sawmill for the Lee Vining' Creek developm~ntw~s
established at Sylvester's Meadow in July 1917. Later that year, a second camp ",:as "
set up at Rhinedollar Lake. Each of these camps consisted of tW9 bunkhouses, a ':.
cook house, and a blacksmith shop. At Saddlebag Lake, an office buildingwas:also '
erected in 1917 for the monitoring of construction activities (Waugh 1918:36). 'By
1920, Headquarters Camp at Sylvester's Meadow consisted of eight blrge buildings,
including a warehouse. machine shop, office, commissary, cook house. builkhouse.
and two garages. There were also an oil house, lauridry, hospital, and ,eight small
cottages (Waugh 1921:16). This same year, other camps were operating at
Rhinedollar and Saddlebag lakes, and a second sawmill cut 354,000, board ,f~etof
lumber at Saddlebag. i ..:: ... .:'

Construction work itself proceeded slowly during this initial phase'C)fth~"'L~e
Vining Creek development. In 1917, a temporary wooden dam and 500, feet of flume
were set up at Rhinedollar Lake, and test pits were sunk to determine the feasibility
of a dam at the south side of the lake~ During this same period, the excavation of
Rhinedollar and Saddlebag reservoirs was partially completed, and some blasting
work on the tunnel took place (Waugh 1918:36). '

After a year of no construction activity at Lee Vining Creek,
Nevada-California Power Company started up work again in 1919~ excavating
portions of Saddlebag, Rhinedollar, and Tioga lakes. At Saddlebag Lake,5,198 cubic
yards of material were excavated from the site, and plans were made to remove
'enough earth"and rock from the lakebed to provide additional storage of some 2,000
acre-feet. From Rhinedollar Lake, over 1,971 cubic yards of rock and earth were
removed. At Tioga Lake, excavation began on a cut which was to reach 20 feet
below the lake's surface and provide additional storage capacity without immediate
dam building (Waugh 1920:19). .

In 1920, the site for the Lee Vining No. 1 powerhouse and penstock was
cleared. and more work was completed on the Rhinedollar dam site. At the
powerhouse site, brush and trees were removed and 1,455 cubic feet of rock and
earth excavated. At the same time, the first 500 feet of penstock line was
excavated through solid rock, the route of the tramway aligning the penstock was
graded, and the first 300 feet of track laid. In August, the Rhinedollar dam site was
cleared down to bedrock and 272.5 cubic yards of concrete poured (Waugh 1921:16)..

The majority of work taking place at the Lee Vining Creek development during
1920 and 1921 occurred at the Saddlebag dam site near the summit of Tioga Pass.
Saddlebag Lake was the shallow overflow of one of the feeders of Lee Vining Creek'
leading out of an alpine basin. Its original name came from its shape-roughly that
of a pair of saddlebags (Sierras Service Bulletin 1921:1). The dam constructed at
this lake was to be 640 feet long and 42 feet high. impounding 11.000 acre-feet of
water.
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In 1920, work on Saddlebag dam consisted of more excavation and initial
construction. Nevada-California Power Company construction engineer E. J.
Waugh~' in his annual report for 1920, described the construction work that took
place at Saddlebag dam:

The excavation, including the toe trench, totaling about 2,000 yards, was
completed in July. Air drills started in the quarry June 19th, the
derricks were working July 1st, and the electric hoist operating the dump
cars within a week thereafter. The timber facing kept pace with the
rock fill. Heavy hewed timbers were set clear across the dam on 6-foot
centers and concreted three feet deep into solid rock at. the bottom.
These are. anchored with rods and rails into the loose rock as the fill is
brought up, and serve to carry the board facing, which consist of one
layer of heavy caulked plank, a layer of sail cloth with a thick coating of

.tar, and a second layer of caulked plank. This facing "was carried ahead
as fast as the rock filling would permit [Waugh 1921:16].

In 1921, a small group of six men and one cook went in to finish the work at
Saddlebag dam. The reservoir was excavated .to its planned 11.3 feet below the
original1ake level. Rock fill, which in 1921 involved handling 6,784 cubic yards of

. rock, was completed. The timber facing was added, and the. dam filled to capacity
by Au~t 1921 (Waugh 1922:20).

Throughout this initial stage of development, Nevada-California Power
Company experienced some difficulty hiring qualified laborers and keeping them on
the job. Part of the problem was that the company wanted the men to work a
nine-hour day when most other construction projects nationwide were working an
eight-hour day. In September 1920 the company changed its policy and instituted an
eight-hour day, which helped to improve labor relations (Greenwald 1921:23).

To further improve relations, the Nevada-California Power Company
constructed small welfare halls in each camp, which had a company store at one end
and a recreation area-eomplete with a phonograph-at the other. Dances were
held in these halls, guests were invited from the neighboring communities, and a
camp orchestra was provided. Of these dances, transportation and commissary
superintendent W. H. Greenwald wrote, "While the floors [of the halls] were rather
rough, the lumber having been furnished from our own sawmills on the job, yet
everybody always had a good time" (Greenwald 1921:23).

Second Phase of Development Under
Southern Sierras Power Company

After 1922, when Southern Sierras Power Company took charge of the Lee
Vining Creek hydroelectric development, the pace of construction activity
quickened considerably. The second phase of development, from 1922 to 1924, saw
the grading and laying of penstock, tunnel drilling, construction of Rhinedollar dam,

.and completion of the Lee Vining No.1 and No.3 powerhouses and their associated
buildings, penstocks, and flowlines.' By the end of 1924, Southern Sierras Power
Company.had virtually completed the Lee Vining Creek hydroelectric development.

During 1922, work was completed on the grading of .the No. 1 powerhouse and
penstock sites, installing a tramway line, drilling a tunnel through granite and
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porphyry, and building a portion of Rhinedollar dam. The grading work consisted of
removing 5,600 cubic yards of material from the powerhouse and penstock sites, the
latter of which rose 1,640 feet in a distance of less than 4,000 feet. Equally steep,
the tramway line along the penstock was difficult to grade and had to be installed by
means of a hoist. The tunnel connecting Saddlebag, Tioga, and Rhinedollar lakes
with the penstock for lee Vining No.1 powerhouse was drilled using double shifts
wor~ing from both ends. When completed on August 16, 1922, the tunnel measured

,'1,834 feet long. At'Rhinedollar dam, rock fill was covered with a concrete slab face
to a height of four feet above the old lake level (Waugh 1923:20).c,.S,: '

~-:;- i/{;:/:'L ,-;:-:;_~-:~:-.:

The following year, 1923, work continued on the lee Vining No. l'Jowe~hciiiie~""
and, at the same time, hasty preparations were made for construction of lee Yi~i.Ilg ;}',,;,
No.3 powerhouse ahead of schedule. At the site of lee Vining No. 1 powerfjouse,7.':},
excavation work began on the tailrace, which had to be carried 425 feet downstream
,to conserve head and to return the water to its natural channel (Poole 1924:9; RhlJdy
1924:18). Also during this year, the trench for the lee Vining No. Tpenstockwas ,c

completed and five of the 45 sections of 28-inch diameter steel pipe penstock were ..
laid (Rhudy 1924:9). In general, preparations were made during 1923 to~mable

completion of the No. 1 plant by the end or 1924. ~ ..~~'-"'.:~'?:.:~':;':;\':- '~.

In springof'1923, Southern Sierras Power Company' came to rea1iz~th~iits'
,system would have difficulty carrying the rapidly increasing load, and' decided to
rush construction of the lee Vining No. 3 plant (Poole 1924:9). On March 18, 1923,
surveys were begun, and within a few, weeks plans were drawn up situating the plant
just off the California state highway leading into Yosemite Valley (Rhudy 1924:8).
The plans called for construction of a concrete intake dam below Rangers Camp on
lee Vining Creek, connected to 3,300 feet of 48-inch diameter wood-stave flowline,
which in tum connected to 2,000 feet of 48-inch diameter steel penstock pressure
pipe, eventually reaching a concrete powerhouse where a 2,50o-kva Westinghouse
generator coupled to a 3,70o-horsepower Worthington hydraulic turbine was to be
installed. In the area near the powerhouse, three concrete residence cottages were
also to be built.

By April 1923, Southern Slerras Power Company had crews at work clearing
timber and debris from the site 0: the intake for the lee Vining No. 3 plant (Rhudy
1924:18). A short time later, a new construction site, "Rainbow Camp," was
established as the headquarters for lee Vining No. '3 construction, providing
accommodations for 60 men (Poole 1924:9). By June, crews were at work
constructing the powerhouse. Work continued on several fronts at once until the
plant was completed-292 days after construction began-in December 1923 (Rhudy
1924:19).

The new lee Vining No. 3 plant' operated under a 374-foot head and, in its
completed form, was described by construction engineer C. H. Rhudy as follows:

The intake structure is of reinforced concrete. The walls on each
side of the spillway are of cantilever design and curved on a radius of
250 feet with convex side upstream. This type of wall effects a large
saving in concrete over the types used at many points where the main
wall is straight and supported from behind with buttresses. The spillway
is an ogee section with 30 foot spilling area arranged for flash boards.

The intake chamber is 16 feet wide and screened with 1I4x3 inch
grids made up in sections about one foot wide. The water is admitted to
the pipe line through two square 42 inch Coffin gates connected to a Wye
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section, rectangular at large end and taperi~g to round. This type of
inlet pipe appears to be an improvement over the regular funnel design,
especially for. shallow intakes, in that the air is not taken into the line so

. freely through vortices which frequently occur at the funnel inlets.
.. The flow line extends along a steep side hiU of earth, loose rock

and large boulders, and parallels the lower end of the Tioga Road at
. ·about 50 feet below it for a distance of approximately 5/8 of a mile. On
account of a road ·crossing immediately below the intake dam, the first
66 feet of the line ·is .of 48 inch diameter 3/16 inch steel pipe. The flow
pipe is 48 inch inside diameter 3244.8 feet long, and built of redwood
staves and 1/2 inch round bands. With the intake full the lower end of
the wood stave line is under a head of 106 feet.

At the lower end of the wood stave line, the pressure pipe begins
and consists of:

1205.06 ft. of 3/16x48 in. I. D. steel pipe.
198.21 ft. of 1/4 x48 in. I. D. steelpipe.
143.89 ft. of 1/4 x42 in. I. D. steel pipe.
373.94 ft. of 5/16x42 in. I. D. steel pipe.
99.80 ft. of 3/8 x42 in. I. D. steel pipe.

2020.90 ft. total slope length.

Both the wood stave and the steel pipe are back-filled with earth
from 9 to 12 inches in depth over the top. The steel line is anchored
with three concrete piers. Three 8 inch air valves, without shut off
gates, were installed on the wood pipe, and two on the steel section.

The powerhouse is of reinforced concrete and Spanish tile roof.
The operating room is partitioned off from the main floor, making a very
satisfactory arrangement both for comfort and convenience to the
operators, and in the saving of the large quantity of fuel that would be
required to warm the whole building through the long winters in that
locality [Rhudy. 1924:18-19].

Rhudy goes on to state that the three reinforced concrete cottages, also built for
the plant operators, were "equally as well, if not better, appointed for domestic
comfort·and convenience than the average city residence" (Rhudy 1924:19).

As planned, during the next year of 1924, Southern Sierras Power Company
was primarily concerned with construction of its Lee Vining No. '1 plant, but at the
same time, the company managed to raise the height of Rhinedollar dam, construct
a new transmission line, install an outdoor switching station at Lee Vining No.3, and

. move a large transformer to the Lee Vining No.3 powerhouse. At Rhinedollar Lake,
the dam was raised another four feet, making the dam eight feet high. By raising
the dam, Rhinedollar reservoir inundated most of an old road around the lake.
Southern Sierras Power was forced to.build 5,345 feet of 16-foot-wide highway, at a
cost $15,000, to replace the old road at a higher elevation. The road was built
27-1/2 feet higher than the original lake level, allowing the dam to be raised in the

. future. The company planned eventually to raise the dam to a height of 20 feet
(Sierras Service Bulletin 1924:1-2; Waugh 1925:21).

In 1924, Southern Sierras Power Company built a new 21-mile, 140,00o-volt
•transmission line from Lee Vining No. 1 to Lee Vining No.3, and on to the Rush
Creek plant, replacing the line built in 1917 by Nevada-California Power Company
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from Mill Creek. The new line was necessary for connection of the Lee Vining No.1
plant. The old 55»000-volt line was taken down and partially salvaged (Halpenny
1925:19). .

Also in 1924, at Lee Vining No.3» a transformer bus structure, large
three-phase transformer» and special outdoor switching station (providing for
current from Lee Vining No. 1 and Mill Creek plants) were installed. Southern
Sierras Power Company intended to change the transformers at Lee Vining No.3 to
a suitable voltage to allow the plant to tie in directly with the ,100,OOo-volt line to
Rush Creek» the 140»00o-vo1t line from Lee Vining No.1» and the 55»OOo-volt line
from Mill Creek. A switching structure was installed at Lee Vining No.3 to allow
for this change in voltage. A large three-phase transformer was brought in from the
Rush Creek plant to provide for stepping up the voltage of the current from Lee
Vining No. 3 and Mill Creek (Dolson 1925:11; Halpenny 1925:19).

The major accomplishment of Southern Sierras Power~~_J924 season was the
completion of the L~e .yining No. 1 pow~r_~laJ.lt. Work on thlS-planf-hac been
ongoing for a number of years. In 192'4;'lfiree camps were set up to finish the plant,
with some 130 company employees and a large number of men working on contract
for Davis» Heller» Pearce Company of Stockton in charge of the powerhouse and
cottage construction (Sierras Service Bulletin 1924:1; Waugh 1925:22).

The main difficulty encountered in this final season of construction work at
the Lee Vining No.1 plant was transportation. Despite the earlier work completed
by the Nevada-California Power Company on roads leading from Benton to Lee
Vining Creek» the exceptionally dry weather in 1923-1924 left roads of desert sands
and volcanic dust virtually impossible to maintain (Benson 1925:288; Waugh
1925:21). As Southern Sierras Power Company employee Robert Benson explained,
the road from Benton was

••• reduced to a 56-mile stretch of pulverized crater-dust which serves
only to conceal the deep ruts of the wheel tracks. In the effort to hold
the road up under the heavy traffic, every practicable method of desert
road making was tried» and all failed after serving a temporary need.
Sawdust and chips from the old Mono sawmill were hauled into the
six-mile stretch beneath the Mono craters, but to no avail. Sage brush
was strewn deep in the wheel tracks, but after the passage of a couple of
trucks the brush was chewed to bits and was ineffective. Grading only
made the road worse by filling the wheel-tracks deeper with sand.

As a result, trucks came into Leevining Creek some with frames
broken under the weight of heavy machinery jolting over the ruts; some
with cylinders scored by volcanic emery inhaled through the
carburetors. Those of us who appreciate the battle involved in every trip
into Leevining "take off our hats" to the truck drivers who literally buck
their way across the ridges, sand and desert wastes of the Benton road
[Benson 1925:288].,

Although the problems Benson describes were quite overwhelming» the company
managed to haul 2,207 tons of freight over the road with very few accidents (Waugh
1925:21).

Completed in September and on line by October, the Lee Vining No. 1 plant
appeared "pigmy~like," according to one observer, when seen from the Tioga road at
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the bottom of a steep gorge below the penstock (Sierras Service Bulletin 1924: 1).
The plant's steel flowline seemed to run perpendicular to the powerhouse, consisting
of 2,537.41 feet of 48-inch diameter pipe, 1,834 feet of which were installed in the
tunnel from Rhinedollar Lake. The plant had one penstock measuring 3,740.89 feet
long and tapering from 44 to 28-inch diameter steel pipe. The powerhouse itself
was built of concrete and measured 38 feet by 68 feet, with a projection out the
back for an air shaft measuring three feet by three feet ten inches. Inside the
building, operating under a 1,531-foot head, was a 12,50Q-kva generator driven by a
14,00Q-horsepower single overhung impulse wheel, one of the largest ever equipped
with a deflector of the sleeve type for controlling speed (Benson 1925:188; Journal
of Electricity 1924b:302). The powerhouse and the reinforced concrete,
three-apartment cottage, machine shop, and garage associated with it were built
into cuts in the side of the mountain so that the overhang might help deflect any
possible damage caused by snowslides (Sierras Service Bulletin 1924:1; Waugh
1925:21-22):

At the end of 1924, Southern Sierras Power Company had completed most of
the work on the Lee Vining Creek development originally conceived by
Nevada-California Power Company back in 1917, and had made a number of
improvements to the Rush Creek plant. Lee Vining No. 1 and No. 3 were now
operational, generating the additional electricity the company needed to supply its
southern California market. Although 1924 was a drought year in the State of
California, Southern Sierras Power Company was able to meet its consumer demands
despite the water shortage--thanks in part to the Rush Creek and Lee Vining Creek
plants.
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CHAPTERS

REFINEMENTS, CONTROVERSY, AND THE LOST MARKET: 1925-1943

By 1925, due in part to the successful operation of its Rush and Lee Vining
creeks plants, Southern Sierras Power Company was able to continue to meet the
needs of the southern California market~ Over the next decade, the company
worked hard to further refine the hydroelectric systems it had established at Rush
and Lee Vining creeks. At the Rush Creek plant, Rush Creek Meadows dam was
completed and numerous cottages and employee buildings were constructed,
improving the plant's living environment. At Lee Vining Creek, the name of the No.
1 plant was changed to the "Poole Plant," and improvements were made in the
various dams. The successful operation and future growth of Southern Sierras Power
Company's Rush and Lee Vining creeks plants seemed assured.

I However, two situations occurred in the 1930s which effectively limited future
(' development of the Rush and Lee Vining creeks plants under Southern Sierras Power

Company. The first involved an ongoing controversy between the City of Los
, Angeles and Southern Sierras Power Company over water rights in Inyo and Mono
'j counties. The controversy has begun years earlier-initially concerning other Mono

County power companies and their plans to develop a plant in the J>wen.s-R.bl.&
'; Gor~. Southern Sierras Power Company became involved in the conflict iDThe

1920s, and it was not untiL1933 that the dispute was finally resolved. As a result of
this resolution, Southern Sierras Power Company's Lee Vining No. 3 plant would I
eventually cease to function as a power generating plant, and the future growth of \/

, the Rush Creek and Poole plants would be under some limitations.

The other situation which affected future developments at Rush and Lee
Vining creeks was Southern Sierras Power Company's loss of Imperial and Coachella
valleys' electric utility business. In 1936, the Imperial Irrigation District secured a
low-interest Federal Rural Electrification Administration loan and entered the
electric utility service in direct competition with Southern Sierras Power Company.
Over the next seven years, Southern Sierras Power Company, then Nevada­
California Electric Corporation (which took direct control of Southern Sierras Power
Company in 1937), and finally California Electric Power Company (which took over
Nevada-California Electric Corporation's holdings in 1941) tried first to
compete-and later to cooperate-with the the new district's management. When
such efforts failed, California Electric Power Company sold its Imperial and
Coachella valleys service area to the Imperial Irrigation District in 1943.

System Rermements

By the end of 1924, major construction activity at the Rush and Lee Vining
creeks plants was completed, and Southern Sierras Power Company began refining
its plants. After Rush Creek Meadows dam was completed in 1925, Southern Sierras
Power Company concentrated its efforts on general improvement and expansion or
power plant surroundings at Rush Creek. In 1927, the company constructed two new
operators' cottages slightly southeast of the powerhouse (Sierras Service Bulletin
1928:3; Southern Sierras Power Company 1930:Drawing #411-66a). The following
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year, the company built two more cottages in the same vicinity, as well as a fully
equipped recreation hall and clubhouse complete with four bedrooms, kitchen, and
living room (Sierras Service Bulletin 1929:4; Nevada-California Electric Corporation
1936:Drawing #411-107; Southern Sierras Power Company 1927:Drawing #411-64).

In the 1930s, as the controversy with Los Angeles intensified, Southern Sierras
Power Company realized the need to streamline its plant operation at Rush Creek.
In 1934, the company installed equipment to convert the plant into a one-man
operation (Halpenny 1935:1). The emphasis after 1934 was continued consolidation
and scaling down of the Rush Creek facility.

At Lee Vining Creek in the 1920s, Southern Sierras Power Company found time
to celebrate its past accomplishments while continuing to work and plan for
improvements. In 1925, after the death of Chief Engineer Charles Oscar Poole who
had worked extensively on the designs of the Lee Vining No. 1 plant, Southern
Sierras Power Company's Board of Directors adopted a resolution renaming the No.
1plantj~~ honQL(~rras Service Bulletin 1925a:3, 1925b:2). A ceremony was
held in October, 1925, when the directors placed a bronze plaque at the plant, com­
memorating Poole's 2o-year association with what was then the Nevada-California
Electric Corporation and its subsidiary, Southern Sierras Power Company (Sierras
Service Bulletin 1926:2). The Poole Plant, "The sign manual of an indomitable
conqueror of the obstacles and reluctances of mass, distance and altitude," was seen
as one of the greatest accomplishments of the Southern Sierras Power Company to
date (Sierras Service Bulletin 1925:2).

While Southern Sierras Power Company was proud of its accomplishments, it
was still working hard to improve the Lee Vining development. In 1925, a spillway
was added to Saddlebag dam, and the dam was raised another three feet (Dolson
1926:11; Waugh 1926:16). Improvements continued in 1927 when Rhinedollar dam
was raised an additional six feet (Sierras Service Bulletin 1928:2). In October 1929,
Tioga dam was finally completed. The March 1929 edition of the Sierras Service
Bulletin described the newly completed Tioga dam as follows:

The dam is 231 feet long and 25 feet high, of rock fill timber face type
of construction, and provides storage of 1386 acre feet, an increase of
1020 acre feet over the former capacity of the reservoir. An auxiliary
dam was also erected, a single arch reinforced concrete structure 52
feet long and 20 feet high [Sierras Service Bulletin 1929:4].

With completion of Tioga dam, the production of the Poole Plant increased by
approximately 1,289,280 kilowatt-hours.

In the late 1930s, Southern Sierras Power Company. (and later, other power
companies) made few improvements to the Lee Vining Creek plants. The fate of
Lee Vining Creek developments, like that of the Rush Creek plant, was determined
largely by circumstances surrounding the controversy between Los Angeles and
Southern Sierras Power Company.

Los Angeles Controversy

The dispute between the City of Los Angeles and Southern Sierras Power
Company involving the Rush and Lee Vining creeks power plants had its roots in an
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earlier conflict between the city and other power companies over a different power
plant location. The entire problem ..be~I1.l!!-.~he first decade of the twentieth
century, when Los Angeles' Municipal Water System's chief engineer, William
Mulholland, began investigating the Owens River as a possible source for a
25D-mile-Iong aqueduct to Los Angeles. As could be expected, local Mono County
farmers and power companies were not pleased with Mulholland's ambitious plans
for "their water." Nevertheless, in 1906, the U.S. Congress, with complete support
of President Theodore Roosevelt, passed a bill "authorizing the purchase by the ci ty
of Los Angeles of certain government lands in Owens Valley as need as
rights-of-way for the Aqueduct and as storage reservoirs" (Kinsey 1928:11). Seven
years later, at a cost of $24,600,000, the Los Angeles Aqueduct was completed.
stretching 233-1/4 miles with 60 miles of open canals, 97 miles of concrete
conduits, 43 miles of tunnels, and 12 miles of siphons (Chalfant 1933:374). In less
than ten years the City of Los Angeles had become the most influential force in the
sjD,lggle to develop the hydra':!lic resources of-MonoCc>1.lIlty.

From the start, two Mono County power companies objected strongly to Los
Angeles' presence in Mono County and to the city's desire to control the power
sources of the region. Controlled by Oakland banker Edson F. Adams, the Owens
River Water and Power Company (incorporated in 1903 to develop power sites on
Owens River) and the Mono Power Company (incorporated in 1906 to build plants on
the sites) secured valuable land and water rights in the Owens River Valley. In 1912,
an open conflict erupted between the Mono Power Company and the City of Los
Angeles after the company sued to condemn three power plantsites on Owens River.
(;e.otter~3~1~1:20.2l.-

Seven years later, Mono Power Company's suit was still pending, and Adams
began looking for a way to rid himself of what were now costly and controversial
holdings in the Owens River Valley. Adams tried first to market his holdings to Los
Angeles. He entered an agreement with Fred Eaton, a former Los Angeles mayor,
who for a commission of $50,000 was supposed to put through a sale of Adams'
holdings to Los Angeles. Eaton was unable to complete the deal as planned and
Adams was left holding the power sites (Chalfant 1933:376; Potter 1934-1941:209).

Rejected by Los Angeles, Adams decided to try to interest a Mono County
power company in the purchase of his Owens River holdings-none other than
Southern Sierras Power Company. In need of more sources of power for its southern
California market~ Southern Sierras Power Company acquired in December l2.l2o.-a
6Q-day option to buy Adams' holdings. On February 4, 1920, Southern Sierras Power
Company took up the option and purchased Adams' Owens River holdings (Chalfant
1933:376-7; Potter 1934-1941:209).

When the City of Los Angeles got wind of the pending take-over of Adams'
holdings by Southern Sierras Power Company, it tried desperately to prevent the
sale to a company which had the resources to actually develop the power sites.'
Instead of making efforts to purchase Adams' holdings directly, the City of Los
Angeles tried to sue to condemn the holdings of Mono County Power Company.
before the sale to Southern Sierras Power Company could take place. The city
dispatched a special messenger to Bridgeport, the Mono County seat, to file the suit,
but before the messenger could reach the courthouse, Southern Sierras Power
Company, fully aware' of Los Angeles' plan, recorded its deed of sale. thereby
becoming legal owner of the disputed properties. Foiled in its attempt to prevent
the sale, Los Angeles brought suit against Southern Sierras Power Company. This
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time the suit was to be heard in the U.S. Federal Court in Oakland (Chalfant
1933:376-7; Potter 1934-1941:210).

-1:::.....:.,:'.;., ... '.-

Over the next five years, as Los Angeles worked to take control of the
holdings it had once rejected, Southern Sierras Power Company began developing
power plants in the Owens River Gorge. The first plant, Adams Auxiliary Plant, was
completed in February 1921, augmenting the company's generating capacity by
3,750 horsepower (Nevada-California Electric Corporation Bulletin 1922:5). Three
years later a second plant, the Adams Main Plant, was completed immediately below
the first, operating under a 235-foot head with a capacity of 7,500 horsepower and
(Dolson 1925:11). The development of these two plants by Southern Sierras Power
Company effectively increased the value of the properties that the City of Los
Angeles was now trying desperately to obtain.

While Southern Sierras Power Company's construction crews were busy
building the Owens River Gorge plants, the company's attorneys were occupied by
the legal battle with the City of Los Angeles. In 1921, the lawsuit in U.S. Federal
Court came to trial, resulting in a judgement in favor of the City of Los Angeles and
a price of $525,000 set for the purchase of Southern Sierras Power Company's
Owens River holdings (Chalfant 1933:378). Southern Sierras Power Company
immediately took the case to the U.S. Circuit Court of Appeals, which in 1922 set
the former verdict aside, denying Los Angeles' right to condemn. According to the
higher court's decision, "the laws of California do not permit any municipality,
however large and powerful, to divert to its own use hydro-electric power, resources'
or developments dedicated to, and in the active service of other municipalities,
although such service may be rendered by privately owned utilities" (Potter
1934-41:239). In 1923, the City of Los Angeles tried to take the case a step
further-to the U.S. Supreme Court-but the Court refused to hear it, supporting
the lower court's decision. The City of Los Angeles would have to find a way other
than condemnation to take over the Owens River holdings (Chalfant 1933:378;
Sierras Service Bulletin 1923a:2).

After the Supreme Court ruling, Los Angeles made no attempt to take control
of the Owens River properties until 1930, when the city decided to try to obtain a
large selection of Mono County lands and water rights, including not only the Owens
River holdings but portions of the Rush and Lee Vining creeks developments. The
plan was to build, among other things, a conduit from Lee Vining Creek to Silver
Lake, and a dam at Silver Lake just below the Rush Creek plant. In order to
complete the developments, Los Angeles needed to obtain certain lands and water
rights at Rush and Lee Vining creeks. To finance these developments, the City of
Los Angeles held an election in which the voters approved a $38,800,000 bond issue
for improvements and new purchases, including $7,000,000 for the purchase of lands
and water rights in Mono Basin (Chalfant 1933:379; Sierras Service Bulletin 1930:1).

Despite approval of the bond issue and the decision of the Supreme Court, the
City of Los Angeles still refused to purchase the Mono Basin properties directly, and
again brought a condemnation suit against Southern Sierras Power Company.• In an
interesting countermove, Southern Sierras Power Company organized the California
Municipal Water Supply Company to compete directly with Los Angeles by
conveying Mono Basin waters to southern California cities outside of Los Angeles
(Chalfant 1933:379). This final move proved to be just what Los Angeles needed to
be brought into action. In OctobeI:.~_3-~ the City of Los Angeles finally signed a
contract to purchase from-soiithern Sierras Power Company and other associa ted
companies certain Owens River, fish Slough, Hi1lside~_Mi11 Creek, Lee Vining Creek,--- _- .;..~., ..;~ .•.'..".~_--.~., ------.... :::.'::'~~~";'~
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Rush Creek, Parker Creek, and Walker Creek lan~nd water right~l!!Jny':~jlpd
Mono counties, as well as the two Owens River Gorge pIa,!!.ts -fOr--s&;T40,OOO [City of
ros Angeles 1933).''------------------- ' .

The sale of these properties in Mono Basin to the City of Los Angeles was to
have a significant impact on Southern Sierras Power Company's Rush and Lee Vining
developments. At. Rush Creek, Soutll~!!!._S..ie!!~~-:po\VerComp~pysold. to Lo§_AngeJe..§
~ll of its water rights exceptthose,aLoL,aO'O,Y~Lthe.--Rusb--Cre..eJc.powerhousewhich
wereus-e-a-iil'geIlerating electricity at the plant. The ,city agreed to allow the power
company to store water in its reservoirs .from one seasoJ.:Lt~:L!he next, provided the
amount did not e~ceed__[iY-e._percenL_of the total reservoirs' capacities. With no
rights to"'waters -below-the' Rush--Creek'" powetho'iise;""S"ouffiern SIerras Power
Company would have to limit any additions to the Rush Creek facility to the area
above the powerhouse (Los Angeles, City of 1933:31).

The impact of the Los Angeles sale was more profound where Lee Vining
Creek developments were concerned. The City of Los Angeles purchased all of
Southern Sierras Power Company's water rights at or above the Lee Vining No. 1
power plant, except those waters used for hydroelectric power generation at the No.
1 plant. No exception was made for the Lee Vining No.3 plant located below the
No.1 plant. The city agreed to permit the storage of waters in reservoirs from oile
season to the next with the same fiYe percent limit as at Rush Creek. Southern
Sierras Power Company was to be allowed contiiiued use of the waters of Lee Vining
Creek to generate power at the Lee Vining No.3 plant for the following three years,
or until the city began diversion of water froIll__J!le .,creek (Los Angeles, City of
1933:20-22). ~"---' .- .., ~__-.J

As it turned out, the Lee Vining No.3 plant continued to operate using the
waters of Lee Vining Creek until ..l~4,Q-seven years longer than agreed (Wills
1940:Letter). During the seven 'yeari,'plans were made to convert the powerhouse
to a substation and to use its hydroelectric generating equipment at another
powerhouse. The decision of Southern Sierras Power Company to sell Lee Vining
Creek water rights to Los Angeles proved to be a .fateful one for its ~o.~ 3
nnw1erh e _. / -r~ -. -"'" ~
~~us. I },j,' ('-',Je t.:'" 7<:;.,. ';"'T.~''':;' _. J:jiSHOf'!' '_J<.

Loss of Imperial m:td Coachella Valleys Markets

The loss of the Imperial and Coachella valleys markets by Southern Sierras
Power Company was a regrettable turn of events. The first sign of trouble began in
1935 when the Imperial Irrigation District, since 1906 the supplier of water to
Imperial Valley farmers, decided to enter the utility business. Southern Sierras
Power Company, which had been operating in the valley for years, could not help but
see this move as a serious threat to its market. By 1936, the Imperial Irrigation
District had secured a one-percent interest rate Federal Rural Electrification loan,
built a 7,SOo-kilowatt diesel plant in Brawley, and was providing electric service to
a few customers. Throughout 1936, Southern Sierras Power Company fought
aggressively to keep its Imperial Valley customers from switching to the district's
service-it seemed with some success (Myers 1983:133-134).

In 1937., either due to problems in Imperial Valley or for other reasons,
Southern Sierras Power Company came under direct ownership of Nevada-California
Electric Corporation-of whith it had long been a subsidiary-and the latter
corporation proceeded to take up the fight against the, Imperial Irrigation District.
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The conflict between the district and the power company intensified throughout the
year, despite repeated offers from the company to submit the matter to mediation.
With additional loans from the federal government, the Imperial Irrigation District
began work on a 9,60o-kilowatt hydroelectric generating plant on the All-American
Canal, and on a 60o-mile extension of rural lines in Imperial Valley. In spite of
these developments, Nevada-California Electric Corporation continued to maintain
a sizable share of the Imperial Valley market throughout 1937 (Myers' 1983:134;
Nevada-California Electric Corporation 1938:14-15).

From 1938 to 1941, Nevada-California Electric Corporation held its own
against the Imperial Irrigation District. During this period, the district completed
its line work and began concentrating efforts on .the acquisition of new customers.
The power company, meanwhile, seemed content with about 65% of connected
meters in March 1940 as had been connected in November 1938. The two concerns
seemed at a stalemate, with neither one side or the other- taking total control of the
market-yet neither side willing to abandon its claim to the Imperial Valley market
(Myers 1983:136-137).

By .....l2!J.... Nevada-California Electric Corporation had become California
Electric Power Company, and the new company took up the struggle against me

Impetfiil IrrigationD1Strict. However, the controversy was about to come to an
end. In 1943, California Electric Power Company gave up the fight and sold its
Imperial and Coachella valleys system to the Imperial Irrigation District. As part of
the agreement, the district agreed not to invade the California Electric Power
Company's market outside the area sold (Myers 1983:137).

The loss of the Imperial and Coachella valleys market brought an end to a
period in which the need for additional sources of power triggered new developments
at Rush and Lee Vining creeks. California Electric Power Company would no longer
be faced with the pressing needs which had driven Southern Sierras Power Company
to begin construction of a new hydroelectric facility even before the former one was
completed. At the same time, California Electric Power Company would no longer
benefit from the ready, lucrative market that Imperial and Coachella valleys had
once been for Southern Sierras Power Company.
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CHAPTER 6

CONSOLIDATION AND MERGER: 1943-PRESENT

In the years following 1943, the power plants at Rush and Lee Vining creeks
continued to operate and to see improvement, but their history was largely
overshadowed by events taking place in the corporate world of California Electric

, Power Company. In the 1940s and 1950s, California Electric Power Company, or
"Calectric" as company employees called it, gradually sold off bits and pieces of the
old Nevada-California Electric Corporation system in an effort to consolidate its
holdings and concentrate on servicing its customers. In 1964, Calectric merged into
Southern California Edison Company, which further streamlined the old
Nevada-California Electric Corporation system. Throughout this period, Rush and
Lee Vining creeks power plants continued to be a vital part of both companies'
systems, and numerous improvements were made to the plants, increasing their
overall efficiency.

The sale of the Imperial and Coachella valleys service area in 1943 was the
first of a series of sales by California Electric Power Company over the next two
decades that signalled the break-up of the old system. In April 1948, Calectric sold
off its Yuma utility service to the Arizona Edison Company, which in turn sold it to
the Arizona Public Service a year later (Myers 1983:137). In 1954, Calectric sold its
Interstate Telegraphy Company subsidiary to the newly incorporated California
Interstate Telephone Company, which began independent operations in March of that
year (Anonymous 1964:n.p.). Two years later, Calectric abandoned the Imperial
Valley ice plants, retained after the sale of the power system to the Imperial
Irrigation District. Finally, in 1960, Calectric sold its northwestern Baja California
service territory to the Mexican government's Commision Federal de' Electricidad
(Myers 1983:137).

In the years after World War II, even though a sizable portion of its service
area had been sold, Calectric was struggling to find ways to meet consumer demands
due to the rapidly. growing California population. The company felt that there were
no streams capable of supporting hydroelectric development within its production
area (Electrical West 1962:n.p.). Thus, Calectric was forced to enter contracts with
other utility companies for the purchase of additional power at great expense. In
the 1950s, to help improve its service, the company launched a steam-plant building
program in southern California. In addition to steam plants, Calectric constructed
new transmission lines which ran to Crowley Lake (1951), the Hot Creek Hatchery
(1952-53), and Mammoth Mountain Resort area (1957) (Anonymous [1961]:46).

By the 1960s, Calectric had gone through considerable changes from its old
Nevada-California Electric Corporation days. As of 1962, the company was
operating 8,129 miles of transmission and distribution lines, 262 substations, and
serviced an area of approximately 52,203 square miles. The company had divided
this system into 13 separate districts, and had operating revenues of $36,298,977 and
assets of $175 million (Electrical West 1962). When Southern California Edison
Company and Calectric came together in 1964, the merger was one of the largest,
most complex ever to take place (Myers 1983:207).
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Under Southern California Edison Company, the old Nevada-California
Electric Corporation was further dismantled, as the company consolidated its
holdings and broadened its service area. J.!L..l..2.P.t Southern California Edison
Company sold the old Nevada service area to Sierra Pacific Power Company (Myers
1983:138). This sale meant that the area which once sparked the original
developments at Rush and Lee Vining creeks was no longer a part of the power
system. Regardless, the sale proved to be a wise decision by Southern California
Edison Company, which was able in the 1970s and 1980s to increase its consumers
while operating in a service area smaller than that of Calectric in the 1960s. By
1983, Southern California Edison Company was the third largest investor-owned
utility in the United States, providing service to a population of more than nine
million people in an area measuring 50,000 square miles and encompassing all or part
of 14 central and southern California counties (Myers 1983:8).

Throughout the years that Calectric controlled the Rush and Lee Vining Creek
plants, the company continued to operate and, in many cases, to improve the
system. At Rush Creek, only minor repairs and changes were made to the plant,
which continued to run efficiently, producing 10,000 kilowatts. At the Lee Vining
Creek plants more significant changes took place. In 1943, the power generating
equipment was finally removed from the Lee Vining No. 3 plant, which was then
converted into a substation (Wills 1940:letter).

.In 1952, 13 of the 17 steel impulse buckets of the Poole plant's impulse
turbines were r.e.pla~ in a little over a month's time at a cost of $30,000 (Edwards
n.d.:3O-32).JJLJ!~, the intake chamber of Saddlebag dam was partially
reconstructed and repaired (California Electric Power Company 1953:Drawing
#363-11). In the 23 years that Calectric employees operated the Rush and Lee
Vining creeks plants and substation, they worked hard to maintain efficiency and
improved the overall system.

When Southern California Edison Company took control of the Rush and Lee
Vining developments in 1964, the company continued efforts to make the plants
more efficient. Numerous changes were made, particularly to the Rush Creek plant,
developing additional plant capacity and energy. In 1983, Southern California Edison
Company initiated a project to replace one of the two old turbines (Unit 1) at the
Rush Creek plant with a new two-jet horizontal shaft impulse turbine of modern
design (Maurel 1983:2). This project was approved, and plans were made to \\.I

complete the work by 1986 (SCE 1983)._InJ9,~ 12 feet of the outlet pipe at Rush 1-- v, '.
Creek Meadows Reservoir broke loose~~,!~~=!~pJE.f~.QJ~.cE 1985:~.). Southern /j'~\Y
California Edison Company continued to maintain the same high standards for the
Rush and Lee Vining plants and substation as had Calectric before them.

Conclusion

As can been seen by this overview, the history of several hydroelectric
generating plants located in the upper reaches of the eastern Sierra Nevada
Mountains at Rush and Lee Vining creeks must be considered significant. The
construction and engineering of the plants was representative of high-head
hydroelectric projects in California. From the early struggle of James Stuart CJ;Jin
and Delos Allen Chappell to capitalize and develop tb~:t1uldI:~lUll~J:~Q~.9f-ihe
Moae--Basin·area,.. developments at Rush and Lee Vining creeks have been atthe
forefront of local and regional history. Through the years, the plants' developments
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have been connected with events in the mining districts of Nevada, with agricultural
developments in Imperial and Coachella valleys, and with the City of Los Angeles'
fight to provide water for its residents.
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